FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/27/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
12/27/2021 2:31 PM
No. 100506-7
COA No. 37574-9-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CRAIG RUSSELL JUNGERS,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Review From Grant County Superior Court
The Hon John Antosz, Presiding
The Hon. David Estudillo, Presiding
The Hon. Thomas Middleton, Presiding

NEIL M. FOX Attorney for Petitioner WSBA No. 15277 2125 Western Ave. Suite 330 Seattle WA 98121

Phone: (206) 728-5440 Email: nf@neilfoxlaw.com

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Mr. Jungers retained a law firm from the Seattle area to represent him in a Grant County case. His first lawyer left the firm and Jungers was passed off to another lawyer, Harry Steinmetz. Mr. Steinmetz had a busy trial schedule in counties west of the mountains, often failed to appear in Grant County, and generally was unprepared. On the eve of trial, Mr. Jungers tried to retain local counsel, but she would only appear if the court continued the case long enough for her to become prepared. Did the trial court violate Mr. Jungers' right to counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, section 22, when denying the motion to continue so that new counsel could take over, and was Mr. Jungers' subsequent guilty plea constitutionally

invalid as it was entered with a lawyer in whom Mr. Jungers legitimately lost confidence after a breakdown of communication?

- 2. Before denying the motion to continue for substitute counsel, did the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, section 22, require that trial court hold an *in camera* hearing?
- 3. Is the provision of the SSOSA statute, RCW 9.94A.670(4), that requires a court to give "great weight" to a victim's opinion an unconstitutional violation of the separation of powers and a violation of the proportionality requirement of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, section 14?
- 4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when denying the SSOSA sentence, a result that sent a disabled senior citizen to prison in a pandemic?

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Jungers is a 78-year old disabled veteran with no criminal history, who in the 1960s served our country in the Navy

and Central Intelligence Agency. In 2018, in Grant County Superior Court, the State charged him with child sex offenses that dated back a decade. CP 1-3. Mr. Jungers retained a law firm in King County ("Newton and Hall") to represent him. CP 15-17. As the Court of Appeals exhaustively detailed, the lawyers from this firm (first Elizabeth Mount Penner and then Harry Steinmetz) repeatedly failed to appear in court in Grant County, were too busy with other cases to give full attention to Mr. Jungers' matter, were going on vacation outside the country, did not investigate the case, did not interview witnesses, and rarely met with Mr. Jungers to review the case with him. The failure of the "Newton and Hall" lawyers to take the case seriously earned the ire of various Grant County judges who repeatedly chastised counsel for the lack of progress on the case. Slip Op. at 3-11; RP I 6-104. At one point, Mr. Jungers spoke up in court and expressed his dissatisfaction about his lawyers' failure to communicate with him. RP I 56-59.

CP 86, 240-43.

Although Mr. Steinmetz apparently thought the case would be resolved with a guilty plea and a SSOSA sentence, it seemed apparent that the chances of a SSOSA sentence were minimal. The SSOSA evaluator initially concluded that Mr. Jungers was "not an appropriate candidate for the SSOSA sentencing option," but then revised her opinion to conclude that Jungers was only "a minimally appropriate candidate for the SSOSA sentencing option." Slip Op. at 8-9 (court's emphasis).

With trial rapidly approaching, Mr. Steinmetz still had not investigated the case. He informed the State that Mr. Jungers would plead guilty and seek a SSOSA sentence. Mr. Jungers did not want to pursue this option. Instead, he sought new counsel (Ms. Lylianne Couture), who was local and willing to take on the case. To allow Mr. Steinmetz to withdraw and Ms. Couture to substitute in and prepare for trial, Mr. Jungers sought a few month continuance. CP 26-33, 40-43. Oral argument on the motion to

substitute counsel was held in open court, with the prosecutor present. Slip Op. at 11-16; RP I 110-43.

During the hearing, Mr. Jungers relayed to the judge how he had limited communication with Steinmetz and that he did not understand even the charges against him as a result of Steinmetz's busy schedule and failure to meet with him. RP I 139-41. In fact, there was little dispute that Mr. Steinmetz had not prepared for trial. See CP 41 ("it does not appear that any trial preparation has been completed at this time.") (emphasis in original). There was also little dispute that Steinmetz's busy schedule and lack of communication with his client had led to a complete breakdown of the attorney-client relationship. RP I 124 ("Mr. Jungers has no faith in my ability to proceed with this case. He does not listen. He is not interested in what I have to say about the case. There's been a complete breakdown of communications.").

The trial court denied the continuance motion, finding that

Mr. Steinmetz could get ready for trial quickly by doing witness

interviews, effectively denying the substitution of counsel. RP I 135-39. Knowing that Steinmetz was not prepared, the State then threatened to amend the information. At that point, stuck with a lawyer in whom he lost confidence, Jungers pled guilty. RP I 146-60.

A few months later, the sentencing judge rejected the SSOSA option. The court specifically gave the opinion of the victim "great weight." RP II 88-89, 91-92. Mr. Jungers was then sent off to prison in the middle of the pandemic. RP II 93.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Mr. Jungers Was Denied the Right to Counsel of His Choice

The Sixth Amendment (as incorporated in the Fourteenth Amendment) and article I, section 22, both guarantee the right to counsel in a criminal case. The right to counsel includes the right to counsel of one's choice. *United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140, 144, 126 S. Ct. 2557, 165 L. Ed. 2d 409 (2006).

In this case, Mr. Jungers' right to counsel of his choice was violated when the trial court denied his request to continue the case long enough so that he could retain local counsel who might actually work on his case. As a result of the denial of this continuance, Mr. Jungers' guilty plea was not knowing and voluntary, in violation of the right to due process of law, the right against self-incrimination, the right to counsel, and the right to a jury trial. U.S. Const. amends. V, VI and XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 9, 21 and 22. *See United States v. Velazquez*, 855 F.3d 1021, 1037 (9th Cir. 2017) (erroneous denial of substitution of counsel required vacation of plea, citing *Perry v. Leeke*, 488 U.S. 272, 280, 109 S. Ct. 594, 102 L. Ed. 2d 624 (1989)).

Applying *State v. Hampton*, 184 Wn.2d 656, 361 P.3d 734 (2015), the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of a continuance to allow for substitute counsel. Slip Op. at 20-26. The court concluded that Mr. Jungers only tried to substitute

counsel as a "result of reluctance to face the moment of truth and a desire to delay." Slip Op. at 32.

This conclusion is contradicted by the court's own conclusions when addressing the issue of whether the trial court should have held an *in camera* hearing. There, the Court of Appeals noted that the prosecutor was well aware of Steinmetz's lack of preparation: "The extent of Mr. Steinmetz's preparation and lack thereof was discussed at many prior hearings. Ms. Bittle [the prosecutor] knew that Mr. Steinmetz had not arranged witness interviews. She knew that Mr. Steinmetz had been focused on negotiating a plea agreement." Slip. Op. at 31-32.

If everyone knew that Mr. Steinmetz was not prepared for a jury trial, Mr. Jungers' desire to change counsel on the eve of trial was rational and not a result of wanting to delay the "moment of truth." While *Mr. Steinmetz's* life may have been easier if Jungers pled guilty and sought a SSOSA sentence, that was not a sensible option for a 77-year old man with severe physical

disabilities facing decades in prison in a case where a judge would likely reject a SSOSA sentence given the poor evaluation.

While an attorney has broad authority to determine strategy, *State v. Cross*, 156 Wn.2d 580, 612, 132 P.3d 80 (2006), the client still retains control of the objectives of representation and a lawyer "shall abide by the client's decision, after consultation with the lawyer, as to a plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial and whether the client will testify." RPC 1.2(a). *See Florida v. Nixon*, 543 U.S. 175, 187, 125 S. Ct. 551, 160 L. Ed. 2d 565 (2004).

Mr. Jungers did not want to plead guilty. He wanted a trial, but he wanted a trial with a lawyer who had worked on his case rather than a lawyer who was perpetually consumed by other cases and could not be bothered even to come to court. Mr. Jungers expressed his dissatisfaction with his lawyers on the record in August 2020. RP I 58-59. In court on January 27, 2020, Mr. Jungers again spoke up, stating that his ability to consult with Steinmetz had been "limited" and that Steinmetz would not share

key documents from the case with him that "would explain to me precisely what it is that I am alleged to have done. Mr. Steinmetz has never managed to produce that document. . . . it hinges around what I was being asked to admit to when I changed my plea. . . . I can't plead guilty to something that I don't know what it is I'm supposed to have done, can I?" RP I 139-41.

That Mr. Steinmetz had been too busy to have explained even the nature of the charges to Mr. Jungers illustrates the complete breakdown in communication that characterized Mr. Steinmetz's and Mr. Jungers' professional relationship. This breakdown of communication — rather than Mr. Steinmetz's theoretical abilities to get up to speed before the looming trial date — is the reason the trial court erred when denying substitution of counsel. The issue was not, as the trial court concluded, whether Mr. Steinmetz was capable to prepare the case quickly. RP I 130-31. Rather, the focus should have been on the breakdown of communication. *See United States v. Nguyen*, 262 F.3d 998, 1003

(9th Cir. 2001) ("the District Judge focused exclusively on the attorney's competence and refused to consider the relationship between Nguyen and his attorney. Even if present counsel is competent, a serious breakdown in communications can result in an inadequate defense.").

Here, the Court of Appeals seemed to blame Mr. Jungers for not previously speaking up about *Mr. Steinmetz* (as opposed to Ms. Penner) earlier.² However, it is a bit unfair to expect a senior citizen with limited exposure to the legal system to stand up in court repeatedly and criticize their own attorney. Indeed, when Mr. Jungers did try to speak up in August 2020, the judge initially chastised him about speaking personally to the court when he had (stand-in) counsel to assist him. RP I 57-59. That Mr. Jungers said

See Slip Op. at 24 ("Mr. Jungers argues that he made the trial court aware of his issues with counsel at the August 20 hearing, but in context, Mr. Jungers's complaints at that time were directed at Ms. Penner (who he referred to as Ms. Mount), not Mr. Steinmetz.").

anything in court at all after being told not to speak should then not be turned against him as evidence.

The Court of Appeals also relied on the fact that "Mr. Jungers could afford retained counsel and was demonstrably able to hire and replace his lawyers quickly." Slip Op. at 29. Yet, this fact too should not be used against Mr. Jungers. *See United States v. Santos*, 201 F.3d 953, 958-59 (7th Cir. 2000) (that politician defendant could hire another lawyer should not be used as reason to deny a continuance and thus deny her counsel of choice).

The fact that Mr. Jungers was diligent and hired counsel as soon as he was charged, and then diligently hired new counsel when it was clear that the firm he paid money to had not done any trial preparation and trial was fast approaching, should not be used against him. Indeed, that Jungers paid money to a firm that ignored the case, ignored him and thumbed its nose at the Grant County Superior Court are facts that support the exercise of discretion *to extend* deadlines, rather than deny Mr. Jungers relief.

In re Pers. Restraint of Fowler, 197 Wn.2d 46, 479 P.3d 1164 (2021), is instructive. There, this Court recently held that it had the power to extend the collateral attack deadline (RCW 10.73.090) where a defendant hired a lawyer to file a Personal Restraint Petition ("PRP"), the lawyer took the money but then stopped communicating, and at the last minute, the defendant's family had to hire a second lawyer who filed a "placeholder" petition on the eve of the expiration of the deadline. *Id.* at 48-52. Even though Mr. Fowler had resources to hire a new lawyer, see id. at 63-66 (Whitener, J., dissenting), the Court held that the collateral attack deadline should be continued where Fowler diligently obtained new counsel just as the deadline was expiring. *Id.* at 56.

The holding of *Fowler* makes sense. Lay consumers of legal services may still have faith in the system and do not want to have to find new lawyers after having paid large portions of their life savings to one firm already. People hire lawyers with the

expectation that even if the lawyer is busy or hard to reach that at some point the lawyer will give their full attention to a case. This is a reasonable position for normal people. That a lawyer takes money and does not do the work is a problem with the legal system and is not the "fault" of the client.

Thus, while Mr. Jungers may have had resources to hire lawyers, the fact that he trusted that Mr. Steinmetz would get up to speed after taking over from Ms. Penner in the Summer of 2019 was not a sign of his desire for "delay." Just as Mr. Fowler obtained new counsel late in the game and a deadline was extended, here too, Mr. Jungers obtained new counsel at the last minute when he legitimately lost confidence it Steinmetz. Mr. Jungers was diligent and did all he could to find a lawyer who would not just take his money and not do the work. He was not just seeking delay – he was seeking a lawyer in whom he could have confidence to prepare the case.

Mr. Jungers was denied counsel of his choice in violation of the right to counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, section 22. This denial resulted in a guilty plea that was not knowing, intelligent and voluntary in violation of the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3, 9, 21 and 22. *See United States v. Velazquez*, 855 F.3d at 1037.

The conflict with *Hampton* and the constitutional issues involved justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (3). However, review should also be granted as an issue of public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court has been very concerned about making sure that defendants receive vigorous representation by their lawyers. *See In re Pers. Restraint of Fowler*, *supra*; *State v. Vazquez*, 198 Wn.2d 239 494 P.3d 424 (2021) (reversal where lawyer failed to object to inadmissible evidence).

Here, the issue is not ineffectiveness *per se*, but whether a client stuck with a lawyer whose lack of preparation and failure to

communicate – on a trajectory to a train wreck at trial – should be allowed new counsel. Mr. Jungers was diligent and proactive. He should not be punished as a result. The Court should accept review and reverse.

2. The Superior Court Should Have Held an <u>In</u> <u>Camera</u> Hearing

When asking to withdraw, Mr. Steinmetz stated did not want to reveal attorney-client confidences. CP 32; RP I 124. Yet, all discussions about Mr. Jungers' dissatisfaction with Mr. Steinmetz and Ms. Penner took place in open court, with the prosecutor and the public listening in.

Under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, section 22, hearings on motions to withdraw and/or substitute counsel need to take place *in camera* without the prosecutor or public present. *See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson,* 142 Wn.2d 710, 717-18, 726-29, 731, 737-39, 764-65, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) (trial court conducted series of *in camera* hearings on

motion to substitute counsel); *United States v. Velazquez*, 855 F.3d at 1034-35 (an inquiry into a request for a new lawyer requires private and in depth questions of the attorney or defendant); *United States v. Nguyen*, 262 F.3d at 1004 ("For an inquiry regarding substitution of counsel to be sufficient, the trial court should question the attorney or defendant 'privately and in depth.") (quoting *United States v. Moore*, 159 F.3d 1154, 1160 (9th Cir. 1998))

Logically, this is appropriate because the defendant and counsel must be able to discuss highly confidential, privileged information in order for the court to determine whether there is an irreconcilable conflict undermining the constitutional right to counsel. *See Yakima v. Yakima Herald Republic*, 170 Wn.2d 775, 803, 246 P.3d 768 (2011) (attendance of public at hearing to request funds for defense "would hurt the overall process of providing the defendant an adequate defense given the need to keep defense strategies from the prosecution, maintain

attorney-client confidences, and protect the right against self-incrimination.").

In contrast, here, the prosecutor and public were present during the inquiry about Mr. Jungers' dissatisfaction with counsel. They were present when the trial judge asked Mr. Steinmetz "if you think you did something wrong," to which Mr. Steinmetz predictably responded, "I don't believe I did anything wrong." RP I 125.³

Yet, it was clear that Mr. Steinmetz had done "something wrong" – he had not prepared for trial, he had not conducted any interviews, he had barely met with his client, and he was essentially tied up in trial after trial in Western Washington for months. Rather than this information being fully discussed in a closed hearing from which the State was excluded, the State became privy to confidential information that it should not have

Ms. Couture's filings (CP 40-43) should have been sealed as well.

had access to – the fact that a week or so before trial, defense counsel had done nothing at all to prepare for trial and the fact that Mr. Jungers had limited communications with his lawyer. This knowledge gave the State an incalculable tactical advantage in the plea bargaining process once the trial court denied a lengthy continuance. At that point, the State knew Jungers had counsel who was not prepared for trial and a lawyer in whom Jungers had lost confidence. The trial court's failure to hold an *in camera* hearing was an independent violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, section 22, and a violation that magnified the harm resulting from the denial of the continuance and substitution of counsel.

The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, citing only to a Ninth Circuit case, *United States v. McClendon*, 782 F.2d 785, 789 (9th Cir. 1986). Slip Op. at 31. However, in *McClendon*, the issue was not whether the inquiry about substitution of counsel should have been *in camera*, but only about the thoroughness of

the inquiry upon a day-of-trial motion to fire counsel. Here, the issue is was whether the prosecutor should have been present at all during the trial court's inquiry.

While, as the Court of Appeals recognized, the prosecutor certainly knew of Mr. Steinmetz's failure to interview State's witnesses, Slip Op. at 31-32, with in camera proceedings, the prosecutor would not have known (1) about Steinmetz's failure to conduct an independent defense investigation, (2) about Steinmetz's failure to meet with his client and explain the case to him, and (3) about the depths of Jungers' lack of trust in his lawyer and the full extent of their communication breakdown. These are facts that the State should not have known and facts that the State then capitalized on by threatening to increase the charges if the case was not quickly resolved. See RP I 147-48 (State references that after the denial of substitution of counsel, it threatened to amend the information and Mr. Steinmetz asked to get the original deal back).

The issue of the right to have an *in camera* hearing is constitutionally based, and thus review is required under RAP 13.4(b)(3). It is also an issue that this Court has not squarely ruled on in the past and thus it is an issue of public importance that justifies review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should accept review and reverse.

3. The SSOSA Statute Unconstitutionally Gives "Great Weight" to the Opinion of the Victim

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