FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/1/2022 2:21 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100506-7 Court of Appeals No. 37574-9-III

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JUNGERS, CRAIG, Petitioner.

### SHORTENED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN MCCRAE
Grant County Prosecuting Attorney

Rebekah M. Kaylor WSBA# 53257 Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

P.O. Box 37 Ephrata, Washington 98823 PH: (509) 754-2011

# **

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

In addition, the SSOSA evaluation is dated November 22, 2019. CP 192. The SSOSA states Mr. Steinmetz referred Mr. Jungers to Ms. Julie Crest for a SSOSA evaluation. CP 131.

In the prosecutor's affidavit, she highlights that she spoke with Mr. Steinmetz about possible resolutions on December 23, 2019 and Mr. Steinmetz advised that he would speak with his client as soon as possible. CP 38. On January 9, 2020, the prosecutor "received an email from Mr. Steinmetz advising that the defendant had signed off on the proposed resolution"; Mr. Jungers would stipulate to the admission of the 3.5 statement; and the defendant intended to enter a change of plea at the readiness hearing. CP 38. On January 10, 2020, the prosecutor received an email from Mr. Steinmetz discussing the language for the defendant's statement of plea of guilty and confirming the agreement between the parties. CP 38. On January 15, 2020, the defendant stipulated to the 3.5 statements, and the State made a record that the defendant would be entering a change of

plea at the readiness hearing scheduled for January 21, 2020. CP 38.

On January 27, 2020, in support of the substitution of counsel, Mr. Steinmetz explained that based on communications with Mr. Jungers, he had focused on how to resolve the case so that Mr. Jungers would not end up in prison. RP 124. The trial court confirmed with Mr. Steinmetz that he believed there was going to be a plea based on his communications with Mr. Jungers. RP 124. Mr. Steinmetz confirmed it was only after the 3.5 hearing on January 15, 2020, that Mr. Jungers decided he did not want to follow Mr. Steinmetz's recommendation. RP 125.

The record demonstrates that both Ms. Penner and Mr. Steinmetz worked on the case. Mr. Steinmetz worked diligently on resolving the case in a way that effected Mr. Jungers' wish to not go to prison. Mr. Steinmetz thought the case had been resolved with Mr. Jungers' blessing and let the court know through stand-in counsel at the 3.5 hearing. As such, this case is

drastically different from *Fowler*, where an attorney took a substantial retainer, had two years to file a PRP, gave false assurances he was working on the PRP, stopped communicating with the defendant's family who hired him, retired in lieu of discipline and disbarment, and did not file the PRP, did not show he had done any work on the PRP, did not provide new counsel with the defendant's file, and did not return unearned fees. Furthermore, *Fowler* addressed a question of equitable tolling of a PRP deadline, *Fowler*, 197 Wn.2d at 53–54, not whether to grant an additional three month continuance after the case had been continued for fifteen.

c. Mr. Jungers' plea agreement was knowing, intelligent and voluntary.

Despite Mr. Jungers contentions to the contrary, *see*Pet'r's Br. 17, Mr. Jungers' plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. "Whether a plea is voluntary is determined by ascertaining whether the defendant was sufficiently informed of the direct consequences of the plea that existed *at the time* of

the plea." State v. Lamb, 175 Wn.2d 121, 129, 285 P.3d 27 (2012).

Mr. Jungers cites to *United States v. Velazquez*. 855 F.3d 1021 (9th Cir. 2017). In this case the Ninth Circuit determined the trial court abused its discretion in not granting a substitution of counsel for an indigent defendant when the defendant, Velazquez,

did everything in her power to alert the court to her belief that she was receiving inadequate assistance of counsel. She filed two motions and supporting exhibits, raised her concerns before three judges at three different hearings, and was dogged in placing her concerns on the record. Despite all of this, the district court never conducted any meaningful inquiry into Velazquez's concerns about her counsel or their relationship.

*Id.* at 1035.

Mr. Jungers' case is very different. Mr. Jungers conveniently brought up assertions of communication problems with Mr. Steinmetz after the court granted a two-week continuance and denied the request for a three-month continuance. *See* 139–40. He did not mention any issues with

Mr. Steinmetz's representation between June 17, 2019, when Mr. Steinmetz started representing him and January 21, 2020, when Ms. Couture attempted to substitute as counsel at readiness. Additionally, on February 3, 2020, Mr. Jungers did not indicate there were any issues with his communication with Mr. Steinmetz, even when the court closely questioned Mr. Jungers about the plea agreement. RP 149–158.

Specifically, at the change of plea hearing, Mr. Steinmetz told the court, "Mr. Jungers and I continued our conversation," RP 147, indicating that Mr. Jungers and Mr. Steinmetz were effectively communicating. The court made sure that Mr. Jungers understood that in requesting the SSOSA, Mr. Jungers would have to voluntarily admit in court to all the elements of the crime. RP 149. The court also made sure that Mr. Jungers understood he had the right to go to trial and that by entering the plea, Mr. Jungers would be giving up numerous rights. RP 152–53. Additionally, in response to the trial court asking Mr. Jungers whether, "anybody pressured you, coerced you or

somehow . . . unduly pressured you . . . to entering . . . the plea," Mr. Jungers replied, "No, Your Honor." RP 156.

The court asked Mr. Jungers numerous questions to ensure that the plea was entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. Additionally, Mr. Jungers never raised any issues with being able to communicate with Mr. Steinmetz during the plea hearing. RP 146–60. The record supports Mr. Jungers entered the plea agreement knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily.

This Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (3) because the trial court properly exercised its discretion to deny Mr. Jungers' eleventh hour substitution.

B. THE TRIAL COURT HAD SUFFICIENT INFORMATION TO DETERMINE WITHOUT HOLDING AN IN-CAMERA HEARING THE NATURE OF MR. JUNGERS' CLAIMED CONFLICT WITH COUNSEL.

A three-factor test is utilized to determine whether irreconcilable conflict requires substitution of counsel: "(1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the inquiry, and (3)

the timeliness of the motion." *In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d 710, 724, 16 P.3d 1 (2001). Substitution motions cannot properly be resolved unless the trial court investigates a defendant's reasons for wanting a different lawyer. *Velazquez*, 855 F.3d at 1034 (citations omitted). "Failure to conduct an inquiry is not necessarily an abuse of discretion if the trial court has sufficient information to resolve the motion." *Id*.

Here, as the Court of Appeals found, the trial court could determine the root of Mr. Jungers' stated dissatisfaction without an in-camera investigation. Noting this was the first time Mr. Jungers indicated dissatisfaction with Mr. Steinmetz and that just days earlier Mr. Jungers listened without comment as counsel told the court the case would resolve at the next hearing, RP 133–34, the trial court reasonably concluded there had been "decent communication, if not good communication, up through the 15<sup>th</sup> of this month." RP 134. Mr. Jungers then volunteered the conflict with Mr. Steinmetz hinged around his uncertainty about what he would be asked to admit when he

changed his plea. RP 141. He was frustrated he had to communicate by email and improbably claimed to be unaware of what he supposedly did. RP 141. Only after the court told Mr. Jungers to discuss those issues with his attorney did Mr. Jungers complain of poor communication and lack of trust that Mr. Steinmetz would be prepared for trial in two weeks. RP 140–41.

Although case law favors judicial inquiry into details of counsel-client conflicts, formal investigation is not required when a defendant's recitation of the problem and the judge's observations provide sufficient basis for reaching an informed decision. *United States v. Smith*, 282 F.3d 758, 764 (9th Cir. 2002). Here, the judge determined Mr. Jungers' perception of "conflict" concerned anxiety. *See* RP 134. Anxiety about the details of his impending plea change that were placable by discussion with counsel.

As the Court of Appeals noted, none of the information Mr. Jungers, Mr. Steinmetz, or Ms. Couture provided gave the

prosecution extra leverage. *Jungers*, slip op. at 31–32. Mr. Jungers claims:

"[W]ith in camera proceedings, the prosecutor would not have known (1) about Steinmetz's failure to conduct an independent defense investigation, (2) about Steinmetz's failure to meet with his client and explain the case to him, and (3) about the depths of Jungers' lack of trust in his lawyer and the full extent of their communication breakdown."

Pet'r's Br. 22.

Mr. Jungers' assertion that Mr. Steinmetz's failed "to conduct an independent defense investigation," Pet'r's Br. 22, fails as Mr. Steinmetz referred Mr. Jungers for a SSOSA evaluation. CP 131. Additionally, Mr. Jungers concedes that the prosecutor already knew that Mr. Steinmetz had not yet interviewed the witnesses and fails to explain what independent defense investigation Mr. Steinmetz failed to do. Pet'r's Br. 22.

Mr. Jungers' claim that Mr. Steinmetz failed to meet with him and explain the case to him resulting in a lack of trust and communication breakdown is not supported by the record. The record reflects that Mr. Steinmetz physically met with Mr. Jungers at least twice, RP 124, 104, and Mr. Jungers was able to communicate with Mr. Steinmetz via phone and email. RP 123.

A SSOSA evaluation was done based on a referral from Mr. Steinmetz. CP 131. The evaluation dates are listed as July 31, 2019 and August 7, 2019. CP 131. A polygraph was conducted on October 10, 2019. CP 154. The evaluation report is dated November 22, 2019. CP 131. The SSOSA was an integral part of the defense's strategy to affect Mr. Jungers' wish to remain out of prison. It is clear the impetus for Mr. Steinmetz not moving the case forward and requesting continuances prior to the end of November was to allow time to receive the evaluation and then to negotiate a plea based on the evaluation. See RP 124. On November 25, 2019, three days after the evaluation report is dated, Mr. Steinmetz informed the court that they were at a point where they could "discuss a productive resolution." RP 101.

At the 3.5 hearing, when asked if he reviewed the 3.5 stipulation with his attorney, Mr. Jungers replied that he understood everything. RP 109. In addition, the prosecutor told the court that in communicating with, Mr. Steinmetz, he believed that there would be a change of plea in a week. RP 109. Mr. Jungers, who was present, did not correct this nor indicate any issues. RP 108–09.

The record shows that Mr. Steinmetz and Mr. Jungers communicated and developed a plan on approaching the case. RP 47. Additionally, a reasonable inference to Mr. Jungers declaration that he understood the 3.5 stipulation was that his understanding was a result of Mr. Steinmetz explaining it to him. Mr. Steinmetz's comments to the court on January 21, 2020, support this: "[O]n Wednesday . . . [the prosecutor] and I worked out a stipulation to the 3.5 issues, my client signed off on that and I had Mr. Chadwick appear for me just to enter the stipulation and advise the Court that we expected to resolve today." RP 114–15.

Furthermore, on January 27, 2020, Mr. Steinmetz confirmed to the court that he discussed the plea with Mr. Jungers and Mr. Jungers was willing to take the plea. RP 124.

Mr. Jungers' improbable allegations that Mr. Steinmetz failed to provide him the necessary documentation to allow him to enter a statement of plea reflects Mr. Jungers' ongoing struggle to accept responsibility for his pedophilic actions. In the recorded phone conversation between Mr. Jungers and the victim, H.N., Mr. Jungers attempted to lay the blame on H.N. for his sexual actions with a seven or eight year old H.N. For example, one of the incidents Mr. Jungers recounted over the phone was that H.N. wanted Mr. Jungers to go to the bedroom and then told Mr. Jungers to pretend like she is his wife. CP 10. Mr. Jungers then said H.N. "grabbed his hand and put it in between her legs." CP 10. Mr. Jungers told H.N. that he was thinking "where the hell is my hand." CP 10. Mr. Jungers asserted that he then "moved his hand to the left and to the right, to find out where his hand was." CP 10. After admitting

to a number of sexual contacts, alluding to having sex with H.N., and alleging that all of the contacts were at H.N.'s initiation, Mr. Jungers blamed the contacts on H.N.'s curiosity. CP 10–11. Mr. Jungers told H.N. that young people don't look at old people the same way . . . . [Y]oung people who are seven or eight, look past that . . . ." CP 11. Mr. Jungers told H.N. that it was a childhood curiosity thing and that she needed to get over it. CP 12. Mr. Jungers expressed multiple times that he was "scared shitless" to go to jail or prison. CP 12.

In the SSOSA evaluation, Mr. Jungers portrayed himself as a victim of H.N., who he maligned as a sexually aggressive child somewhere around seven to ten. CP 143, 156, 157. Mr. Jungers also agreed with statements that support his justifications for sexually abusing children. CP 144–45.

The statement of plea forced Mr. Jungers to squarely face and admit his pedophilic actions. CP 56–57. Mr. Jungers feared doing this because he feared going to prison. CP 12, 156. The record supports Mr. Jungers desperately trying to blame a seven

to ten year old child for sexual aggression in order to rationalize his actions and remain out of prison.

Additionally, Mr. Jungers' contention that the State threatened to increase the charges because of the alleged new found leverage is baseless. See Pet'r's Br. 22. The State had expressed its intention to amend the charges including adding enhancements on multiple prior occasions. At the July 22, 2019 hearing, Mr. Steinmetz stated, "[The Prosecutor] has given me an offer and advised me of other potential consequences or other potential amendments and I advised her this morning of where I want to go with this case." RP 47. The amendments included "special allegations for the victim being under 15 years of age and predatory offender." CP 35. At the November 13, 2019 omnibus hearing, the omnibus order shows that the State intended to move to amend the Information. CP 20.

Mr. Jungers' assertions fail. The State had let Mr.

Jungers and his attorney know all along there were potential

amendments that they were considering. Additionally, the

prosecutor agreed to uphold the original plea agreement that Mr. Jungers originally had agreed to enter. RP 148. Nothing changed regarding the State's position based on the purported additional leverage.

The court had enough information from its inquiry to make an informed decision regarding substituting counsel without utilizing an in-camera hearing. None of the information disclosed gave the State any additional leverage or revealed any information the State did not already have access to or that could not be reasonably inferred. As such, there is no constitutional issue under RAP 13.4(b)(3), and the issue does not present an issue of public importance the Washington State Supreme Court needs to address under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. This court should decline review of Mr. Jungers' constitutional challenge to the "great weight" provision of RCW 9.94A.670(4) BECAUSE HE DOES NOT DEMONSTRATE MANIFEST ERROR.

Mr. Jungers did not object at sentencing or any other stage of the proceedings to the "great weight" provision of

RCW 9.94A.670(4). RP (Sentencing) 52–68. Claims of error not raised by timely and specific objection below are generally rejected for appellate review unless the error is "a manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a). Here, the claimed error was far from obvious. Rather it is an uncommon constitutional challenge to a specific provision of the Sentencing Reform Act. As such, this Court should deny review.

The Court of Appeals did an excellent job in addressing the substance of Mr. Jungers' contention walking through the legislative history, *Jungers*, slip op. 33–36, separation of powers, *id.* at 36–37, and protection against cruel and unusual punishment. *Id.* at 37–39. The Court of Appeals astutely pointed out that Mr. Jungers could cite "no authority for the proposition that the criteria for sentencing alternative can render an otherwise constitutional sentence "cruel" punishment. *Id.* at 38. As such, this Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(3)–(4).

D. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED MR. JUNGERS' REQUEST FOR A SSOSA.

"The grant of a SSOSA sentence is entirely at a trial court's discretion, so long as the trial court does not abuse its discretion by denying a SSOSA on an impermissible basis."

State v. Sims, 171 Wn.2d 436, 445, 256 P.3d 285, 290 (2011) (citing State v. Osman, 157 Wash.2d 474, 482 n. 8, 139 P.3d 334 (2006)).

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